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仮定法…仮定法過去 73
If I were rich, I would buy a new car. If+S+were+S＋would+動詞の原形

「もし～であれは…であろうに」
もし私が金持ちであれば　私は買
うであろうに　新車を

If I could speak English, they might employ 
me.

If＋S＋動詞の過去形～＋S＋might＋動詞の原形
「もし～であれば…かもしれない」

もし私が話せたら　英語を　彼らは
雇ってくれたかもしれない　私を

If I knew your address, I could write to 
you.

If＋S＋動詞の過去形～＋S＋could＋動詞の原形
「もし～であれば…できるだろうに」

もし私が知っていたなら　あなたの注所を　
私は手紙を書けるだろうに　あなたに

I wish I were rich. I wish＋S＋were～
「～であればいいのだが」

私はいいのだが　私が金持ちであ
れば

I wish I could fly like a bird. I wish+S+could～
「～できればいいのだが」

私はいいのだが　私が飛べたら　
鳥のように

I wish you could drive a car. I wish＋S＋could～
「～できればいいのだが」

私はいいのだが　あなたが車を運
転できれば

I wish you were coming with us. I wish+S+過去形
「～すればいいのだが」

私はいいのだが　あなたが来れば　
我々といっしよに

He talks as if he knew everything. as if＋S＋過去形
「まるで～であるかのように」

彼は話す　まるで彼が知っている
かのように　すべてを

He talks as if he were a child. as if＋S＋過去形
「まるで～であるかのように」

彼は話す　まるで彼が子供である
かのように

If it were not for your help, I could not 
succeed.

If it were not for～
「もし～がなければ」

もしあなたの助けがなければ　私
は成功できなかった

If I were you, I would leave now. If I were you～
「もし私があなたの立場であるなら～」

もし私があなたの立場であるなら　
私は出発します　今すぐ
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仮定法…仮定法過去完了 74
If I had had more money, I would have 
bought a new car.

lf＋S+had＋過去分詞， 
S＋would have＋過去分詞

「もし～だったら…であっただろうに」

もし私が持っていたなら　たくさんのお
金を　私は買っていただろうに　新車を

If you had come a little earlier, you might 
have seen her.

If＋S＋had＋過去分詞， 
S＋might have＋過去分詞

「もし～だったら…かもしれない」

もしあなたが来ていれば　もう少し早く　
あなたは会えたかもしれない　彼女と

If I had studied hard, I could have 
succeeded.

If＋S＋had＋過去分詞， 
S＋could have＋過去分詞

「もし～していたなら…できたかもしれない」

もし私が勉強していたなら　一生懸
命に　私は成功できたかもしれない

I wish I had married you. I wish＋S＋had＋過去分詞
「～していればよかったのに」

私はよかったのに　私が結婚して
いれば　あなたと

I wish I had passed the examination. I wish＋S＋had＋過去分詞
「～していればよかったのに」

私はよかったのに　私が合格して
いれば　試験に

I wish you had not said that. I wish＋S＋had not＋過去分詞
「～しなければよかったのに」

私はよかったのに　あなたが言わ
なければ　そんなことを

I am sorry you said that. I am sorry～＝上文の言い換え
「残念です」

私は残念です　あなたがそんなこ
とを言って

I wished you had not said that. I wished＋S＋had not＋過去分詞
「～しなければよかったのにと思った」

私はよかったのにと思った　あな
たが言わなければ　そんなことを

You look as if you had seen a ghost. as if＋S＋had＋週去分詞
「まるで～だったかのように」

あなたは見える　あなたがまるで
出会ったかのように　幽霊と

You are talking as if you had lived in 
America.

as if＋S＋had＋過去分詞
「まるで～だったかのように」

あなたは話している　あなたがまる
で住んだかのように　アメリカに

If it had not been for your advice, I would 
have failed.

If it had not been for
「もし～がなかったとしたら」

もしなかったとしたら　あなたの
助言が　私は失敗していただろう
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仮定法…注意すべき用法① 75
If you should fail, what would you do ? lf＋S＋動詞の原形，S＋would＋動詞の原形

「万一～するようなことがあれば…」
万一あなたが失敗するようなこと
かあれば　あなたはどうしますか

If she should come, I will tell you.
lf＋S＋should＋動詞の原形， 
S＋will（would）＋動詞の原形

「万一～するようなことがあれば…」

万一彼女が来るようなことがあれ
ば　私は知らせます　あなたに

If it should rain, I will stay home.
If＋S＋should＋動詞の原形， 
S＋will＋動詞の原形

「万一～するようなことがあれば…」

万一雨が降るようなことがあれば　
私はいます　家に

If I were to be reborn, I would like to 
become an artist.

If＋S＋were to＋動詞の原形，
S＋would＋動詞の原形

「もし～するようなことがあれば…」

もし私が生まれ変わるようなことが
あれば　私はなりたい　芸術家に

If you were to know the fact, you would 
be surprised.

If＋S＋were to＋動詞の原形，
S＋would＋動詞の原形

「もし～するようなことがあれば…」

もしあなたが知るようなことがあれば　
その事実を　あなたは驚くだろう

Were it not for air, we would die. Were it not for＝If it were not for～
「もし～がなければ」

もし空気がなければ　我々は死ん
でしまうだろう

Were I you, I would tell the truth. Were I you＝If I were you
「もし私かあなたなら」

もし私があなたなら　私は言うの
だが　本当のことを

Were I young, I would go America. Were I young＝If I were young
「もし私か若ければ」

もし私が若ければ　私は行くのだ
が　アメリカに

Had I studied, I might have succeeded. Had I studied＝If I had studied
「もし私が勉強していたなら」

もし私が勉強していたなら　私は
成功していたかもしれない

Had you been awake, you could have 
called me.

Had you been awake＝ 
If you had been awake

「もしあなたが目を覚ましていたなら」

もしあなたが目を覚ましていたなら　
あなたは電話がかけられた　私に

Should you change your mind, please let 
me know.

Should you change＝If you should change
「万一あなたが変わっていたならば」

万一あなたが変わっていたならば　あ
なたの考えが　どうぞ教えてくだざい
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仮定法…注意すべき用法② 76
But for your advice, I would fail. But for＝If it were not for～

「～がなければ」
あなたの助言がなければ　私は失
敗するだろう

Without your advice, I would fail. Without＝If it were not for～
「～がなければ」

あなたの助言がなければ　私は失
敗するだろう

But for your advice, I would have failed. But for＝If it had not been for～
「～がなかったら」

あなたの助言がなかったら　私は
失敗していただろう

Without your advice, I would have failed. Without＝If it had not been for～
「～がなかったら」

あなたの助言がなかったら　私は
失敗していただろう

If only we loved each other. If only～＝I wish～
「～さえすればなあ」

私たちが愛しあっていさえすれば
なあ　お互いに

If only you had known. If only～＝I wish～
「～でありさえすればなあ」

あなたが知っていてくれさえすれ
ばなあ

Even if I were ill, I would go there. Even if～
「たとえ～でも」

たとえ私が病気でも　私は行きま
す　そこへ

Even though I am ill, I will go there. Even though～＝Even if～
「たとえ～でも」

たとえ私が病気でも　私は行きま
す　そこへ

In case it should rain, you should take your 
umbrella.

In case～
「万一～の場合のために」

万一雨が降った場合のために　あ
なたは持ったほうがいい　傘を

Suppose you had a million dollars, what 
would you do ?

Suppose～
「もし～ならば」

もしあなたが手にしたならば　100
万ドルを　何をしますか　あなたは

Unless you were honest, I would not 
employ you.

Unless～
「～でないなら」

もしあなたが正直でないなら　私
は雇わないだろう　あなたを
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時制の一致① 77
I think that you do. think→do

主節が現在形で従属節が現在形
私は思う　あなたはすると

I thoughtthat you did.
thought→did
上文の主節が過去形だと従属節は
過去形

私は思った　あなたはすると

I think that you did. think→did
主節が現在形で従属節が過去形

私は思う　あなたはしたと

I think that you have done. think→have done
主節が現在形で従属節が現在完了

私は思う　あなたはしてしまった
と

I thought that you had done.
thought→had done
上文の主節が過去形だと従属節は
過査完了

私は思った　あなたはしてしまっ
たと

I think that you had done. think had done→
主節が現在形で従属節が過去完了

私は思う　あなたはしてしまって
いたと

I thought that you had done.
thought→had done→
上文の主節が過去形だと従属節は
過去完了

私は思った　あなたはしてしまっ
たと

I know that you are sick. know→are
主節が現在形で従属節が現在形

私は知っている　あなたが病気で
あることを

I know that you were sick. know→were
主節が現在形で従属節が過去形

私は知っている　あなたが病気で
あったことを

I knew that you were sick. knew→were
主節が過去形で従属節が過去形

私は知っていた　あなたが病気で
あることを

I thought that you must go. thought→must
主節が遇去形でもmustは現在形

私は思った　あなたが行かなけれ
ばならないと
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時制の一致② 78
I think that you will go. think→will go

主節が現在形で従属節が未来形
私は思う　あなたが行くだろうと

I thought that you would go.
thought→would go
上文の主節か過去形だと従属節の
willは過去形

私は思った　あなたが行くだろう
と

I think that you will have gone. think→will have gone
主節が現在形で従属節が未来完了

私は思う　あなたが行ってしまっ
ているだろうと

I thought that you would have gone.
thought→would have gone
上文の主節が過去形だと従属節は
過去未来完了

私は思った　あなたが行ってし
まっているだろうと

I think that you are going. think→are going
主節が現在形で従属節が現在進行形

私は思う　あなたが行きつつある
と

I thought that you were going.
thought→were going
上文の主節が過去形だと従属節は
週去進行形

私は思った　あなたが行きつつあ
ると

I think that you were going.
think→were going
上文の主節が現在形で従属節が過
去進行形

私は思う　あなたが行きつつあっ
たと

I thought that you had been going.
thought→had been going
上文の主節が過去形だと従属節は
過去完了進行形

私は思った　あなたが行きつつ
あったと

I think that you have been going.
think→have been going
主節が現在形で従属節が現在完了
進行形

私は思う　あなたが行きつつある
と

I thought that you had been going.
thought→had been going
上文の主節が過去形だと従属節は
過去完了進行形

私は思った　あなたが行きつつ
あったと

I have though that you go.
have thought→go
主節が現在完了でも従属節の動詞
に変化はない

私は思っていた　あなたが行くと
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話法…直接話法と間接話法① 79
She says, “I am happy.” “I am”

直接話法
彼女は書っている　「私は幸せだ」

She says that she is happy. That she is～
間接話法

彼女は言っている　彼女は幸せで
あると

She said, “I am happy.” “I am～”
直接話法

彼女は言った　「私は幸せだ」

She said that she was happy. That she was～
間接話法（従属節は過去形になる）

彼女は言った　彼女は幸せである
と

She said, “I will be happy.” “Iwill be～”
直接話法

彼女は書った　「私は幸せになる
だろう」

She said that she would be happy. That she would be～
間接話法（従属節のwillは過去形になる）

彼女は言った　彼女は幸せになる
だろうと

She said, “I was happy.” “I was～”
直接話法

彼女は言った　「私は幸せだった」

She saidthat she had been happy. That she had been
間接話法（従属節は過去完了になる）

彼女は言った　彼女は幸せだった
と

She said, “I have been busy.” “I have been～”
直接話法

彼女は言った　「私はずっと忙し
い」

She said that she had been busy. that she had been
間接話法（従属節は過去完了になる）

彼女は言った　彼女はずっと忙し
かったと

She said that she had just finished her 
homework.

that she had finished her～
間接話法（従属節は過去完了になる）

彼女は言った　彼女はちょうど終
えたところだと　彼女の宿題を

05章_初.indd   190-191 2017/07/11   15:48



192 193

話法…直接話法と間接話法② 80
I said, “I am happy.” “I am～”

直接話法
私は言った　「私は幸せだ」

I said that I was happy. I am→ I was
間接話法

私は言った　私は幸せだと

I said, “She is happy.” “She is～”
直接話法

私は言った　「微女な幸せだ」

I said that she was happy. She is→she was
間接話法

私は言った　彼女は幸せだと

You said, “You are happy.” “You are～”
直接話法

あなたは言った　「あなたは幸せ
だ」

You said that I was happy. You are→ I was
間接話法

あなたは言った　私は幸せだと

You said, “I will go to America.” “I will～”
直接話法

あなたは言った　「私は行くつも
りだ　アメリカに」

You said that you would go to America. I will→you would
間接話法

あなたは言った　あなたが行くつ
もりだと　アメリカに

She said, “I don’t love you.” “I don’t～you”
直接話法

彼女は言った　「私は愛していな
いあなたを」

She said that she didn’t love me. I don’t→she didn’t/you→me
間接話法

彼女は言った　彼女は愛していな
いと　私を

She said that I was happy. 直接話法のyou are→ I was
間接話法

彼女は言った　私は幸せだと
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話法…代名詞と副詞の変化① 81
I said, “I like this.” This

直接話法
私は言った　「秘は好きだ　これ
が」

I said that I liked that. This→that
間接話法

私は言った　私は好きだと　それ
が

I said, “I came here.” Here
直接話法

私は言った　「私は来た　ここに」

I said that I had gone there. Here→there
間接話法

私は言った　私は行ったと　そこ
へ

I said, “I am happy now.” now
直接話法

私は言った　「私は幸せだ　今」

I said that I was happy then. now→then
間接話法

私は言った　私は幸せだと　その
ときは

I said, “I will go there today.” today
直接話法

私は言った　「私は行くつもりで
すそこへ　今日」

I said that I would go there that day. today→that day
間接話法

私は言った　私は行くつもりです
と　そこへ　その日に

I said, “I will go there tonight.” tonight
直接話法

私は言った　「私は行くつもりで
すそこへ　今夜」

I said that I would go there that night. tonight→that night
間接話法

私は言った　私は行くつもりだと
そこへ　その夜に

I said that I would go there that week. 直接話法のthis week→that week
間接話法

私は言った　私は行くつもりだと
そこへ　その週に
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話法…代名詞と副詞の変化② 82
I said, “I will go there tomorrow.” tomorrow

直接話法
私は言った　「私は行くつもりで
す　そこへ明日」

I said that I would go there the next day. tomorrow→the next day
間接話法

私は言った　私は行くつもりだと
そこへ　その次の日に

I said that I would go there the following 
day.

tomorrow→the following day
間接話法

私は言った　私は行くつもりだと
そこへ　その次の日に

I said, “I went there yesterday.” yesterday
直接話法

私は言った　「私は行った　そこ
へ昨日」

I said that I had gone there the previous 
day.

yesterday→the previous day
間接話法

私は言った　私は行ったと　そこ
へその前の日に

I said that I had gone there the day before. yesterday→the day before
間接話法

私は言った　私は行ったと　そこ
へその前の日に

I said, “I went there last night.” last night
直接話法

私は言った　「私は行った　そこ
へ昨夜」

I said that I had gone there the previous 
night.

last night→the previous night
間接話法

私は言った　私は行ったと　そこ
へその前の夜に

I said that I had gone there the night 
before.

last night→the night before
聞接話法

私は言った　私は行ったと　そこ
へその前の夜に

I said, “I went there last year.” last year
直接話法

私は言った　「私は行った　そこ
へ昨年」

I said that I had gone there the previous 
year.

last year→the previous year
間接話法

私は護った　私は行ったと　そこ
へその前の年に
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話法…話法の転換① 83
He says, “I love you.” say

直接話法
彼は言う　「私はあなたを愛して
いる」

He says that he loves me. say→say
間接話法

彼は言う　彼は愛していると　私
を

He said that he loved me. said→said
間接話法

彼は言った　彼は愛していると　
私を

He says to me, “I love you.” say to
直接話法

彼は言う　私に　「私はあなたを
愛している」

He tells me that he loves me. say to→tell
間接話法

彼は言う　私に　彼は愛している
と私を

He said to me, “I love you.” said to
直接話法

彼は言った　私に　「私はあなた
を愛している」

He told me that he loved me. said to→told
間接話法

彼は言った　私に　彼は愛してい
ると　私を

He said to me, “Where do you go ?” said to
直接話法

彼は言った　私に　「どこへ　あ
なたは行くのか」

He asked me where I went. said to→asked
間接話法

彼は尋ねた　私に　どこへ行くの
かと

He said to himself, “What shall I do ?” said to oneself
直接話法

彼は言った　彼自身に　「私はど
うしたらいいのか」

He wondered what he should do. said to oneself→wondered
間接話法

彼は　思った　彼は　どうしたら
いいかと
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話法…話法の転換② 84
He said to me, “Get out of the room.” get

直接話法
彼は言った　私に「出ていけ　部
屋から」

He told me to get out of the room. get→to get
間接話法

彼は言った　私に　出ていくこと
を部屋から

He ordered me to get out of the room. said to（命令）→ordered
間接話法

彼は命じた　私に　出ていくこと
を部屋から

He said to me, “Don’t go there.” said to
直接話法

彼は言った　私に　「行くな　そ
こへ」

He advised me not to go there. said to（助言）→advised
間接話法

彼は助言した　私に　行くことは
ないと　そこへ

He said to me, “Don’t cross the fence.” said to
直接話法

彼は言った　私に　「横切っては
ならない　囲いを」

He warned me not to cross the fence. said to（警告）→warned
間接話法

彼は警告した　私に　横切らない
ようにと　囲いを

He said to me, “Please tell me the way.” said to
直接話法

彼は言った　私に　「どうぞ教え
てください　道を」

He asked me to tell him the way. said to（依頼）→asked
間接話法

彼は頼んだ　私に　教えることを
彼に　道を

He said to me, “Please give me some 
money.”

said to
直接話法

彼は言った　私に　「どうぞくだ
さい　私に　いくらかのお金を」

He begged me to give him some money. said to（依頼）→begged
間接話法

彼は頼んだ　私に　あげることを
彼に　いくらかのお金を
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話法…話法の転換③ 85
He said to me, “You may go to America.” “you may～”

直接話法
彼は言った　私に　「あなたは
行ってよい　アメリカに」

He told me that I may go to America. “you may～”→ I may～
間接話法

彼は言った　私に　私は行ってよ
いと　アメリカに

He said to me, “Are you Mr. Smith ?” “Are you～?”
直接話法

彼は言った　私に　「あなたはス
ミスさんですか」

He asked me if I was Smith. “Are you～?”→ if I was～
間接話法

彼は尋ねた　私に　私がスミスで
あるかどうか

He asked me whether I was Smith. “Are you～?”→ whether I was～
間接話法

彼は尋ねた　私に　私がスミスで
あるかどうか

He said to me, “Can you go there ?” “Can you～?”
直接話法

彼は言った　私に　「あなたは行
くことができますか　そこへ」

He asked me if I could go there. “Can you～?”→ if I could～
聞接話法

彼は尋ねた　私に　私が行けるか
どうか　そこへ

He said to me, “Have you been to 
America ?”

“Have you been～?”
直接話法

彼は言った　私に　「あなたは
行ったことがあるか　アメリカ
に」

He asked me if I had been to America.
“Have you been～?→ 
if I had been～
間接話法

彼は尋ねた　私に　私は行ったこ
とがあるかどうか　アメリカに

He said to me, “Will you go there ?” “Wil you～?”
直接話法

彼は言った　私に　「あなたは行
くつもりか　そこへ」

He asked me if I would go there. “Wil you～?”→ if I would
間接話法

彼は尋ねた　私に　私が行くつも
りかどうか　そこへ
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話法…話法の転換④ 86
He said to me, “Who went there ?” “Who went～?”

直接話法
彼は言った　私に　「誰が行った
のか　そこへ」

He asked me who had gone there. “Who went?”→ who had gone～
間接話法

彼は尋ねた　私に　誰が行ったの
かと　そこへ

He said, “What is the matter with you ?” “What is the matter～?”
直接話法

彼は言った　「どうしたんだ君は」

He asked what was the matter with me. What is→what was
間接話法

彼は尋ねた　どうしたんだ　私は
と

He said to me, “How beautiful you are !” said to
直接話法

彼は言った　私に　「なんて美し
いのだ　あなたは」

He exclaimed that I was very beautiful. said to→exclaimed
間接話法

彼は感嘆した　私がとても美しい
ことを

He said to me, “What a beautiful woman 
you are !”

said to
直接話法

彼は言った　私に　「なんて美し
い女性だ　あなたは」

He exclaimed what a beautiful woman I 
was.

said to→mexclaimed
間接話法

彼は感嘆した　なんて美しい女性
だと　私は

He said to me, “May you be happy !” said to
直接話法

彼は言った私に　「あなたは　幸
せでありますように」

He hoped that I would be happy. said to→hoped
間接話法

彼は望んだ　私が幸せであるよう
にと

He prayed that I might be happy. said to→prayed
間接話法

彼は祈った　私が幸せであるよう
にと
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否定…notの用法 87
Don’t be afraid. Don’t be～

be動詞を用いた命令形の否定
怖がるな

I tried not to sleep. not to～
語句の否定

私は試みた　寝ないことを

I feel frustrated not knowing about it. not~ing
語句の否定

私は悔しく思う　知らないことを
それについて

She loves me, (and) not you. not～
語の否定

彼女は私を愛している　あなたで
はなく

Not all American people speak English. not all
部分否定

すべてのアメリカ人ではない　英
語を話すのは

I don’t have any money. not any
全体否定

私は持っていない　一銭の金も

I don’t know either of your parents. not～either
全体否定

私は知らない　どちらも　あなた
の両親の

I don’t think that I am beautiful woman. don’t think that～
「～だとは思わない」

私は思わない　私が美しい女性だ
とは

“Do you think it will snow tomorrow ?” 
“No, I think not.”

think not
前文を全体否定

「あなたは思いますか　明日　雪
が降ると」「いいえ　私は思わな
い」

“Will he come ?” “I’m afraid not.” I’m afraid not
前文を全体否定

「彼は来るだろうか」「（残念なが
ら）私は来ないと思う」

“Is she ill ?” “I hope not.” I hope not
前文を全体否定

「彼女は病気ですか」「私は願うそ
うでないと」
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否定…not/never/neither の否定構文 88
I have not a few friends. not a few=many

「少なからぬ（たくさんの）」
私は持っている　少なからぬ（た
くさんの）友達を

I was not a little surprised at the news. not a little＝much
「少なからず（おおいに）」

私は少なからず（おおいに）驚いた
そのニュースに

I am not a designer but an artist. not A but B
「AではなくB」

私はデザイナーではなく　芸術家
だ

I am not so much a designer as an artist. not so much A as B
「AというよりはむしろB」

私はデザイナーであるというより
はむしろ芸術家だ

I am not only a designer but an artist. not only A but（also）B
「AであるばかりでなくB」

私はデザイナーであるばかりでな
く芸術家だ

I am neither a designer nor an artist. neither A nor B
「AでもBでもどちらでもない」

私はどちらでもない　デザイナー
でも　芸術家でも

You should not cry because you failed. not～because…
「～ではない…だからといって」

あなたは泣いてはいけない　失敗
したからといって

I never see you without thinking of my 
son.

never～without…
「～すると必ず…する」

私はあなたを見ると　必ず思い出
す私の息子のことを

You cannot succeed without making an 
effort.

cannot～wlthout…
「～できない…なしに」

あなたは成功できない　努力する
ことなしに

You cannot be an artist. cannot be～
「～のはずがない」

あなたは　芸術家のはずがない

You cannot be too careful about your 
health.

cannot be too～
「～でありすぎるということはない」

あなたは注意しすぎるということ
はない　あなたの健康について
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否定…noの用法 89
No smoking. No～

～禁止（掲示板などで）
喫煙禁止

No, that’s impossible. No
「まさか（驚き・疑い）」

まさか　それは不可能だ

I am no better today. no～＝not any～
「少しも～ない」（比較級の前に用いて）

私は　少しもよくない　今日は

You are no fool. no～＝not a～
「けっして～でない」

あなたは　けっして馬鹿ではない
（とても賢い）

I have no money. no～＝not any～
「一つ（一人）の～もない」

私は持っている　一つもない金を
（私には金がない）

There is no book in my bag. There is no～「～はない」 本はない　私のカバンのなかに

No one loves her. No one
「誰も～ない」

誰も愛さない　彼女を

No one can love her. No one can～
「誰も～できない」

誰も愛することはできない　彼女
を

No one man can do that. No one man can～
「一人の人間ではできない～」

一人の人間ではすることができな
いそれを

None of them love her. None of～
「～の誰も…ない」

彼らの誰も　愛していない　彼女
を

None of the food has gone bad. None of～
「一つも～がない」

一つも食べ物がない　腐ってしまった
（食べ物はどれも腐っていなかった）
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否定…部分否定と全体否定 90
The weather is not very bad. not very～

「それほど～でない」（部分否定）
天候は　それほど悪くない（まあ
まあの天候だ）

I am not always happy. not always～
「いつも～とは限らない」（部分否定）

私は　いつも幸せとは限らない

I do not know your name exactly. not～exactly
「正確には～ない」（部分否定）

私は　知らない　あなたの名前を
正確には

I can not do everything. not～everything
「すべて～とは限らない」（部分否定）

私は　すべてできるとは限らない

I can not do anything. not～anything
「何も～ない」（全体否定）

私は　何もできない

All that glitters is not gold. all～not…
「すべての～が…とは限らない」（部分否定）

すべての　輝くものが　限らない
金とは

Not all men love women. not all～
「すべてが～とは限らない」（部分否定）

すべての男が愛するとは限らない
女性を

Not every man can love others. not every～
「みんなが～とは限らない」（部分否定）

みんなが愛せるとは限らない　他
人を

I do not quite love her. not quite～
「まったく～というわけではない」（部分否定）

私は　まったく愛しているという
わけではない　彼女を

I do not love both of them. not～both
「両方とも～というわけではない」（部分否定）

私は　両方とも愛しているという
わけではない　彼らの

I do not love either of them. not～either～
「どちらも～でない」（全体否定）

私は　愛していない　彼らのどち
らも
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否定…準否定 91
I have few friends. few

「ほとんど～ない」
私は持っている　ほとんどない友
達を（友達はほとんどいない）

I have a few friends. a few
「少数の」

私は持っている　少数の友達を

I have little money. little
「ほとんど～ない」

私は持っている　ほとんどないお金
を（ほとんどお金を持っていない）

I have a little money. a little
「少しの」

私は持っている　少しのお金を

I said almost nothing. almost　nothing
「ほとんど～ない」

私は話した　ほとんどないことを
（何も話さなかった）

I almost never see her. almost never＝hardly ever
「めったに～しない」

私はめったに会わない　彼女と

I hardly have time to eat lunch. hardly
「ほとんど～ない j

私は　ほとんど時間がない　ラン
チを食べる

I can scarcely speak English. scarcely
「ほとんど～ない」

私はほとんど話せない　英語を

I seldom go out. seldom
「めったに～ない」

私はめったに外出しない

I rarely meet her. rarely
「めったに～ない」

私はめったに会わない　彼女と

I do nothing but laugh. nothing but=only
「ただ～だけ」

私は　ただ笑うだけ（笑ってばか
りいる）
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否定…注意すべき表現 92
I am too full to eat dessert. too…to～

「～するには…すぎる」
私は満腹すぎる　食べるには　デザー
トを（お腹いっぱいで食べられない）

It is too difficult the book for me. too～
「～すぎる」

難しすぎる　その本は　私にとっ
て（難しくて読めない）

I am far from an artist. far from～
「～からほど遠い」

私はほど遠い　芸術家から（私は
芸術家ではない）

I am anything but an artist. anything but～
「～のほかなら何でも」

私は何でもだ　芸術家のほかなら
（私はけっして芸術家ではない）

I am nothing but an artist. nothing but～
「～以外の何ものでもない」

私は何ものでもない　芸術家以外
の（私は単なる芸術家にすぎない）

I am by no means a genius. by no means～
「けっして～でない」

私は　けっしてない　天才では

I am free from worries. free from～
「～がない」

私は心配から自由だ（心配するこ
とがない）

I am the last man to tell a lie. the last～to…
「最も…しそうにない～」

私は男だ　最も嘘をつきそうにな
い（私は嘘をつく男ではない）

He failed to come. failed to～
「～しそこなう」

彼はしそこなった　来ることを
（彼は来ない）

He denies tell ing a lie. deny～ing
「～ないと言う」

彼はつかないと言う　嘘を

He denied having told a lie. denied having＋週去分詞
「～しなかったと言う」

彼はつかなかったと言う　嘘を
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